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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 25512                                                                                                             Juneau, Alaska 99802-5512

EMILE D. ANSELMO, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                            Applicant,

                                                   v. 

R.J.H. INC.,

                                                  Employer,

                                                   And 

ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO.,

                                                  Insurer,

                                                            Defendants.
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       FINAL

       DECISION AND ORDER

      AWCB Case No.  199819197
      AWCB Decision No. 00- 0259

       Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska 

       December 18, 2000


On October 3, 2000 and October 19, 2000, in Anchorage, Alaska, we heard the employee’s claim for medical benefits, temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits, reemployment benefits, a compensation rate adjustment, penalties, interest, attorney fees and determinations that the employer frivolously controverted the employee’s claims and knowingly made misleading statements and false submissions relating to benefits due the employee.  Attorney Steven Constantino represented the employee.  Attorney Timothy McKeever represented the employer and the insurer (“the employer”).  The evidentiary record remained open until November 15, 2000, to permit the parties to file additional evidence and closing briefs.  We closed the record when we next met to deliberate in this matter on November 16, 2000.


ISSUES

1. Is the employee entitled to additional medical benefits?

2. Is the employee entitled to temporary total disability benefits?

3. Is the employee entitled to reemployment benefits?

4. Is the employee entitled to a compensation rate adjustment?

5. Is the employee entitled to penalties?

6. Is the employee entitled to interest on unpaid benefits?

7. Shall we award the employee attorney’s fees?

8. Did the employer commit a frivolous and unfair controversion?

9. Did the employer knowingly make false and misleading submissions and statements relating to the benefits due to the employee?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The employee injured his left arm in the course and scope of his employment in September 1998.  In early September 1998, he was assigned to fabricate steel trusses for an oil platform walkway.  This work involved using solid, ½ inch thick, 12-foot x 10-foot plate steel.  The fabrication process required the employee to physically move the heavy ½ inch plates into position on a shear.  During the first week of this assignment, the employee testified he felt burning, aching and swelling in his left arm.  The employee testified that he advised his supervisor and shop superintendent that he was injuring himself.  He testified he was advised to do the best he could, and he continued working.  (Employee’s Deposition at 49).  The employee testified he treated his arm with aspirin, heat and cold.  Id. at 50.  The employee ultimately filed a Report of Injury or Illness on September 15, 1998.  The employer did not dispute the compensability of the claim.  Id.


On September 11, 1998, the employee sought treatment from his family physician, Mario A. Lanza, M.D.  Dr. Lanza is a board-certified family practitioner.  Dr. Lanza noted: “a week to ten days ago at work he was moving a heavy, large sheet of steel and felt a pull in his left forearm.  Despite having rested for three days over the holiday weekend, now that he has returned to work he is continuing to have increasing pain over the dorsal aspect of the proximal left forearm.”  (Dr. Lanza’s 9/11/98 Chart Note).  Dr. Lanza concluded the employee suffered “Muscle strain and lateral epicondylitis vs. Tendonitis.”  Id.  Dr. Lanza issued an off-work slip stating the employee could return to work on September 14, 1998.  He placed the following limitations on the employee’s work between September 14 and September 21, 1998: “no lifting > 20#; no strenuous use of left arm; no repetitive use of left arm.”  (Dr. Lanza’s 9/11/98 Disability Certificate). The employee testified that he never had any problems or injuries to his arms or elbows before 1998.  (Employee’s Deposition at 37).  


The employee informed the employer about Dr. Lanza’s instructions, and was told no light work was available.  He returned to work as before with the truss fabrication project.  On September 21, 1998, Dr. Lanza reported that the employee’s symptoms were worsening.  He removed the employee from all work for one week and instructed him to avoid painful activities and rest the arm.  On September 28, 1998, Dr. Lanza reported no improvement in the employee’s arm and referred him to Bret Mason, D.O., for further evaluation and treatment.  (Dr. Lanza’s 9/28/98 Chart Note).


Dr. Mason examined the employee on October 1, 1998.  He found:

He is very exquisitely tender over the lateral epicondyle and exquisitely so with resisted extension.  He has only mild discomfort over the supinator volarly.  This does not seem to be an issue.  He is tender over the medial epicondyle but nowhere near the intensity of the lateral epicondyle.

Dr. Mason’s 10/1/98 Report.

Dr. Mason noted the employee’s elbow “swells with use.”  Id.  Dr. Mason concluded the employee suffered “1. Severe lateral epicondylitis left elbow. 2. Mild medial epicondylitis left elbow.”  Id.  Dr. Mason injected the area of the common extensor tendon, and noted that this gave the employee significant relief.  He started the employee on therapy to help decrease his elbow inflammation and help maintain his strength.  He removed the employee from work for three weeks.  Id.


On October 27, 1998, Dr. Mason noted that the employee informed him that his medial epicondylitis had resolved, but his lateral epicondylitis continued to bother him.  Dr. Mason felt the employee was capable of doing light work, but was unable to grasp or lift more than several pounds.  (Dr. Mason’s 10/27/98 Chart Note).  


The employee testified he continued to work for the employer, performing work that required him to lift tools weighing 40 to 50 pounds over his head.  The employee received physical therapy at Alaska Hand Rehabilitation.  Following the employee’s return to work, his physical therapist noted a marked increase in symptoms, edema and increased pain with gripping and pinching.  (see Therapist’s Notes, 11/2/98-11/19/98).  On November 19, 1998, the employee’s physical therapist, Angie Carmen, O.T., indicated the employee had a significant decrease in left-hand grip strength and increased tenderness over the radial head since returning to work.  The physical therapy note on November 24 revealed “grinding and popping” in the employee’s elbow.


On November 24, 1998, the employee saw Dr. Mason for a follow-up visit.  Dr. Mason noted:

He has been in physical therapy and has done so religiously but this also has not helped much.  He returns today with still a painful, aching left elbow.  He describes his pain as a 7-8 on a scale of 10.  He has also developed some swelling and now some crackling and popping in the elbow with any gripping or forceful extension of the wrist.  He also feels as though there might be something in the joint as he gets deep pain even in the elbow joint.

Dr. Mason’s 11/24/98 Report.

Dr. Mason ordered a MRI scan “to see if there is something in the joint that we can elucidate such as a chondral lesion or loose body that did not show up on x-ray.”  Id.


The MRI Report suggested the employee had “osteochondritis dissecans or a vascular necrosis of the capitellum.”  (12/2/98 MRI Report).  On December 10, 1998, Dr. Mason reported that the employee’s MRI demonstrated the employee suffered osteochondritis dissecans of the capitellum.  Dr. Mason thus scheduled an operation for the employee on January 8, 1999.  He intended to perform a: 

tennis elbow release (modified Boyd procedure) for attention of the lateral epicondylitis and then a debridement of the joint, removal of chondral flap, multiple drilling technique to try and vascularize the area of the capitellum and fill this area with fibrocartilage.”  

Dr. Mason’s 12/10/98 Report.  

The surgery, however, was “canceled per insurance carrier pending second opinion.”  (Dr. Mason’s 1/27/99 Chart Note).


On January 11, 1999, the employee was sent to Seattle, Washington to be evaluated by the employer’s medical evaluator (“EME”), Alfred I. Blue, M.D.  Dr. Blue noted “there is a definite audible snap in the elbow which can be heard with a stethoscope.”  (Dr. Blue’s 1/11/99 Report at 2).  He diagnosed the employee as suffering an “osteochondral fracture, right capitellum,” adding that “by history this is directly related to his using the arm in September to move heavy metal.”  Id. at 3.  He opined that “a modified Boyd procedure of the lateral epicondyle and joint debridement is indicated.”  Id.  He indicated that the employee would take from six weeks to three months to recover.  He noted the employee would suffer a permanent impairment as result of his work injury, but the rating was inappropriate at that time because the employee was not medically stable.  He also indicated the employee might be unable to return to heavy work duty.  Id. at 4.  He noted “I am forming this opinion based on an excellent outcome from the surgical procedure.”  Id. at 3-4.  


Dr. Blue also found the employee suffered hypertension, and recommended he consult with a physician about this.  Id. at 2.  Dr. Lanza confirmed this diagnosis at the employee’s January 25, 1999 pre-operative physical.  (Dr. Lanza’s 1/25/99 Chart Note at 2).  The employee testified he had a problem with high blood pressure once before 1998, “Briefly after a car wreck, but I was taken off the medication by my doctor.  It resolved.”  (Employee’s Deposition at 37).


Dr. Mason performed surgery on February 1, 1999.  His operative note states he detached the employee’s extensor tendon, stripping it of thick scar and fibrotic tissue.  He then performed a lateral epicondylectomy, “bringing this exposure down to cancellous bone.” (Dr. Mason’s 2/1/99 Operative Report).  Despite the MRI report, he found no evidence of avascular necrosis of the capitellum.  He noted “some excoriation and early chondromalacia involving the radial head.” Id.  He then resected 2 millimeters of the annular ligament “reasoning that this may have been one of the ideologies of flapping over the radial head with supination and pronation.”  Id.


On February 3, 1999, the employee appeared at Dr. Mason’s office complaining of pain in his left wrist and hand.  He was not seen by the doctor, but was advised by office personnel to position his wrist and hand above his heart.  (2/3/99 Chart Note).  On February 5, 1999, John Roberts, PA-C, from Dr. Mason’s office observed edema at the wrist and hand, but noted marked improvement from two days before.  


The employee returned to physical therapy on February 11, 1999.  The therapist’s chart note for February 24, 1999 stated that the employee related elbow “popping” similar to before the surgery.  The therapist noted this popping occurred when the employee’s elbow was extended and his fingers were in a fist.  (2/24/99 Therapist’s Note).  On March 3, 1999 the Therapy Progress Report noted some improvements in the employee’s condition, and stated the employee’s “main concern is the clicking in his elbow, similar to his pre-operation condition.” (3/3/99 Therapy Progress Report) (bold in original).


On March 9, 1999, Dr. Mason noted the “big problem is that he is having continued elbow popping and snapping if he moves his elbow from flexion to extension.”  (Dr. Mason’s 3/9/99 Chart Note).  Dr. Mason noted:

I cannot neglect that his elbow continues to snap and this is what is slowing down his rehab.  My only other advice might be to stake a 2.7 arthroscope into the joint and see if we can find an area of chondral tear that could be easily debrided....  As he is not improving I think we need to investigate this popping further and recommend arthroscopic evaluation. 

Id.


On March 19, 1999, Dr. Mason performed a limited synovectomy at the radial head and capitellum, and removed a small flap on the capitellum.  He then manipulated the employee’s arm through a complete range of motion and was unable to “reproduce any snapping, popping or irregularity.”  (Dr. Mason’s 3/19/99 Operative Report at 2).


Following this surgery, the employee testified his elbow was “still real bad” with severe pain in the whole arm.  (Employee’s Deposition at 63-64).  On March 25, 1999, Dr. Mason noted the employee could still reproduce popping of the elbow when he closed his fist.  Dr. Mason suspected the cause was the common extensor tendon because “this is the only way of getting the banjo string effect of the snapping.”  (Dr. Mason’s 3/25/99 Note).  Subsequent physical therapy notes document swelling of the elbow and wrist, a pronounced lack of grip strength, and persistent elbow pain with occasional shooting pains into his hand.


On April 20, 1999, Dr. Mason noted he was having difficulty finding the etiology of the painful snap when the employee extended his elbow with his hand in a fist.  Dr. Mason stated he wanted a second opinion regarding the employee’s elbow condition and scheduled the employee to be evaluated by Michael W. McNamara, M.D., a specialist in upper extremity surgery.  Dr. McNamara examined the employee on April 23, 1999.  He noted the employee had:

marked improvement of his lateral tennis elbow type of symptoms and increased range of motion of his elbow with occupational therapy.  However, he does have marked pain of lateral elbow with popping, grinding, and clicking, with any type of grip maneuver with supination and pronation.”

(Dr. McNamara’s 4/23/99 Report at 1).  


Dr. McNamara found the employee was “mildly tender in his lateral epicondyle, nontender in his medial epicondyle, and nontender in the radial tunnel.”  Id. at 2. He also noted the employee was focally tender over his radial head.  With a forceful grip, he found a mild grind and a “marked clicking and popping over the annular ligament of the radial head.”  Id.  He assessed the employee’s condition as improving.  (Dr. McNamara’s 4/23/99 Report).  


Dr. McNamara believed the clicking and popping was related to the annular ligament and suggested further surgery might be necessary to reduce the symptoms.  He opined that the employee should receive retraining to lighter work and concurred with Dr. Mason that the employee should remain off work unless light duty work was available.  Id.  No light duty was available and the employer continued to pay the employee benefits.

A May 10, 1999 Therapy Progress Report noted continued edema.  The employee’s elbow flexion, grip strength and wrist extension strength were approximately 81% less on the left than on the right.  (5/10/99 Therapy Progress Report).  Dr. Mason's May 13, 1999 chart note stated the employee was:

80% better then [sic] when I initially saw him.  However, I am at my wits end on how to treat this popping symptom ... [h]is major concern is weakness of the hand.  He states the popping, although bothersome, is not so much the issue as the pain it seems to produce.  Why he has pain even with the elbow in full extension with grip is beyond me.

Dr. Mason’s 5/13/99 Chart Note.


Dr. Mason planned to have Dr. McNamara reevaluate Mr. Anselmo in three months, because "I have given 110% and am not sure how to get him much better than what I have done so far." Id. On May 13, 1999, Dr. Mason wrote to the insurer
 that he expected the employee to be medically stable on June 13, 1999, but he deferred to Dr. McNamara on whether he expected permanent partial impairment. He also continued the employee’s light duty work release with "no use of the upper left extremity." (Dr. Mason’s 5/13/99 Letter to Insurer).


In May 1999, the employee requested a reemployment benefits eligibility evaluation.  On August 17, 1999, the insurer wrote the RBA that it was not objecting to the employee being found eligible for a reemployment benefits plan.  (8/17/99 Fax from Sue Harvey to RBA).  On September 20, 1999, the employee was found eligible for reemployment benefits.  (9/20/99 Letter from RBA).  The employer paid the employee .041(k) benefits from August 31, 1999 until November 21, 1999.  These benefits were paid at a rate of $339.35 per week.  On March 10, 2000, the rehabilitation specialist assigned to the case suspended the employee’s reemployment plan because the employer controverted the employee’s benefits.

Dr. McNamara reevaluated the employee on June 11, 1999 and stated:

Without a question I think there is still a mechanical etiology to the lateral elbow pain... He has a clicking and popping laterally that suggest a plica, lateral ligamentous popping... He has an overlaying residual tennis elbow as well.

Dr. McNamara’s 6/11/99 Chart Note.

Dr. McNamara described the lateral epicondyle tenderness as approximately "3‑4+ out of 4." Id. at 2.  He stated:

I think ultimately an arthroscope of the elbow again followed by a possible open arthrotomy will be necessary as a result of the very initial injury sustained by Mr. Anselmo on 9/4/98.  I think the symptoms that he has now have persisted since his initial injury.

Id.

Dr. McNamara also noted the employee had developed “early depression from his long-term narcotic use, and associated irritability that goes along with narcotic use.”    Id. 

The employer sent the employee again to Seattle to be examined by Dr. Blue for a second opinion.  On June 29, 1999, Dr. Blue suggested that a gallium MRI be done, rather than arthroscopic surgery.  While waiting for this MRI to be done, the employee continued to treat with Dr. Lanza for his elbow pain.  On July 7, 1999, Dr. Lanza referred the employee for psychiatric treatment, stating that the employee: 

feels he is getting quite depressed over this whole pain issue and the fact that he is needed to be out of work due to the pain; also the fact that his mother is dying of pancreatic cancer and due to the situation here, both financial and medical, he is not able to go home to visit.  

Dr. Lanza’s 7/7/99 Chart Note.

  On August 30, 1999, Dr. Blue performed a record review at the request of the employer.  He diagnosed a “mechanical derangement, periarticular.”  He did not believe the employee's lateral epicondylitis was improving.  He noted:

[The employee] states he is worse after surgery than before.  Epicondylitis is essentially a subjective diagnosis, and therefore, if we have accepted his complaints prior to surgery, I would have to accept them now.

Dr. Blue’s 8/30/99 Report at 2.

He did not offer a diagnosis of the clicking and popping in the employee’s elbow, and did not concur with Dr. McNamara’s opinion that this was related to the annular ligament.  Id. at 3.  He suggested further nonsurgical treatment to identify the etiology of the clicking and popping.  He felt that surgical treatment might be warranted “depending on what is identified as nonsurgical treatment.”  Id.  He opined that if surgery was necessary, it would require six weeks to three months to recover.  

Dr. Blue thought the employee was medically stable in June 1999, “based on the assumption that without surgery, he will not make an improvement.”  Id. at 5.  He concluded the employee had incurred a 3% whole person PPI.  He disapproved of the employee returning to his job at the time of injury, and limited the use of his left hand to light sedentary work. Id. at 6.  Based on this rating, the employee converted the employee’s temporary total disability payments to permanent partial impairment payments, and paid the employee PPI benefits from June 30, 1999 until August 30, 1999.  They paid the employee $452.97 per week.

Dr. Lanza referred the employee to Greg McCarthy, M.D., a psychiatrist, for work‑injury pain and litigation-stress related depression. On August 5, 1999, Dr. McCarthy diagnosed a major depressive disorder, single episode.  He prescribed an increase in the antidepressant Paxil, prescribed earlier by Dr. Lanza. On August 31, 1999, Dr. Lanza noted the employee had increased blood pressure and opined that it might be partly a physiologic response to the employee’s elbow pain and prescribed medication. The employee testified he never had any problems with depression and had never treated with a psychiatrist or psychologist before his work accident.  (Employee’s Deposition at 37). On October 14, 1999, Dr. Lanza stated that, based on his prior knowledge of the employee, the employee was not depressed before his elbow injury and he opined that a very large portion of the employee’s current depression was related to the effects of his September 1998 work injury.  He further concluded that the injury‑related pain had a significant role in the employee’s hypertension. (Dr. Lanza’s 10/14/99 Chart Note). Dr. Lanza concluded that pain, "which is known to be a stimulator of blood pressure has a significant role in this patient's hypertension . . ."  Id.

On December 28, 1999, Dr. Lanza referred the employee to David E. Telford, M.D., a psychiatrist, for reactive depression secondary to a work injury and for elements of chronic pain syndrome. Dr. Telford's impression was that the employee suffered a major depressive disorder. Dr. Telford noted that the employee was coherent and logical, with fears about his treatment by the workers’ compensation insurance carrier. 

On November 19, 1999, Dr. McNamara performed a third surgery on the employee’s elbow.  In Dr. McNamara's preoperative examination he noted the lateral epicondyle area was “4+/4+” for pain.  He noted tenderness proximally to the radial head, with an audible and palpable click between the radial head and the capitellum area when he performed a gentle supination and pronation with a small amount of varus (side) stress.  He noted the employee felt great pain with varus stress.  Dr. McNamara believed the popping and catching was ligamentous, which could be due to a lateral collateral ligament insufficiency. (Dr. McNamara’s 11/18/99 Chart Note at 2).  Dr. McNamara also found positive compression of the ulnar nerve at the cubital tunnel, with tenderness leading to numbness and tingling of the fourth and fifth digits, which had developed in the preceding three to four months. He concluded the employee’s cubital tunnel problem was probably secondary to swelling of the left elbow. Id. at 2‑3.

After making an incision in the employee’s elbow, Dr. McNamara woke the employee up and had him reproduce the clicking and popping in his elbow. (Dr. McNamara’s 11/19/99 Operative Report at 1). Dr. McNamara observed that a "large plica" (tissue fold) had developed "very tight in the radial capitellar joint." He also observed the "lateral collateral ligament completely subluxing over the lateral epicondyle." Id.  the employee was then put to sleep and the large plica was removed.  Dr. McNamara noted, "it was then clear that the lateral collateral ligament was completely detached from its origin on the lateral humerous, possibly due to previous epicondylectomy or as part of the original injury." Id. at 2.

The employee realized significant pain relief and increase in range of motion from Dr. McNamara's surgery.  (Employee’s Deposition at 76).  He was released early from the hospital and returned to Alaska.  Dr. McNamara believed Dr. Mason had agreed to follow-up with the employee when he returned to Alaska after surgery.  Follow‑up care was not provided to the employee by Dr. Mason, but by his office staff.  Id. at 79.  This led to a miscommunication regarding the type of casting Dr. McNamara wanted for the employee’s arm and the cast had to be replaced on December 7, 1999.  Dr. McNamara then directed post-surgery physical therapy.

The employee changed physical therapists to Providence Alaska Medical Center.  On January 25, 2000, the therapist noted increased soreness and variable sharp shooting pain from the lateral elbow joint.  A January 27, 2000 note indicates the employee was very upset about the continued popping and pain in his elbow.  

On February 3, 2000, Dr. McNamara examined the employee again. Dr. McNamara found a “mild, almost wet leather type crepitus with supination‑pronation that is palpable directly over the radiocapitellar joint which is different from preop." (Dr. McNamara’s 2/3/00 Report at 1).  He assessed "some mild distal radioulnar joint mechanical clicking." Id. He also found the employee was very tender at his cubital tunnel and compression led to numbness and tingling of the fourth and fifth digits of his hand.  He recommended nerve conduction velocity studies and stated "the cubital tunnel is directly related to the elbow injury and surgery from swelling and may require surgical decompression." Id. at 2.  Dr. McNamara concluded Mr. Anselmo was not medically stable, especially since the cubital tunnel problem had not been worked up. He recommended approximately 8 to 12 weeks of physical therapy before reevaluation.  Id. 

The employer then sent the employee to be examined by Stephen P. Marble, M.D., and Gary Zeluff, M.D., on February 21, 2000.  The employee testified Drs. Marble and Zeluff did not manipulate his arm or perform any physical examination, although a nurse took his blood pressure.  (Employee’s Deposition at 81).  He testified Drs. Marble and Zeluff talked to him for not more than 15 minutes.  Id. at 82.  

Drs. Marble and Zeluff concluded the employee did have work-related “epicondylitis/tendinitis" but concluded that this resolved after Dr. Mason's first surgery.  The two physicians opined that the employee’s subsequent surgeries were for a mechanical problem, lateral collateral ligament detachment and radiocapitellar degenerative joint disease, which did not "directly" relate to injuries sustained on the job.  They offered no alternative explanation. Although they agreed the employee had the signs and symptoms of u1nar nerve compressive neuropathy in the elbow, since his symptoms did not manifest until after Dr. Mason's second surgery they concluded it was not "claim‑related."

With regard to Dr. Lanza's diagnosis of pain and stress related hypertension, Drs. Zeluff and Marble noted the employee’s records indicated he had blood pressure as high as 140/90 in June 1997.  Although they stated that acute pain could elevate blood pressure, in their view the elevation is typically temporary or transient.  They pointed instead to the employee’s weight gain since his injury and the cessation of smoking as the likely culprits. 

Drs. Marble and Zeluff concluded that the employee’s significant reactive depression was "partially" related to his injury.  They opined that the reactive depression was temporary and would resolve with three months of medication and therapy. The EME physicians admitted the question of medical stability was complicated by Dr. Mason's second surgery but they believed his work-related epicondylitis and tendonitis was medically stable in June of 1999 – as Dr. Blue had suggested -- and the employee had no PPI as “direct” result of his work-related elbow injury.  They predicted that after November 1999, the employee would have the capacity to return to medium level work.

After receiving a copy of Dr. McNamara's February 2000 evaluation and the Marble‑Zeluff report, on March 1, 2000, Dr. Mason signed an affidavit about his treatment of the employee, and provided it to the employer.  Among other things, he noted that in late October 1998, the employee’s medial epicondylitis had resolved, but he continued to have symptoms of lateral epicondylitis.  (Dr. Mason’s 3/1/00 Affidavit at 2).  He stated that on October 24, 1998 he found no evidence of nerve impingement in the employee’s elbow.  Id.  He stated that after the employee’s initial surgery, the employee “began complaining for the first time of popping in his elbow... I was surprised because during the surgery I had a good opportunity to look into his elbow joint and saw nothing that could explain a popping noise.”  Id. at 3.  He stated that the surgeries he performed on the employee “resolved the lateral epicondylitis condition which Mr. Anselmo originally presented with.”  He stated he did not believe the popping sound in the employee’s elbow was due to any defect in the joint, and said that he found no evidence of osteochondritis dissecans or other significant problems in the capitellum, radial head or other structure in the elbow joint.  Id.  He stated the employee did not have a detached lateral collateral ligament in his elbow when he operated on him and, therefore “that detachment was not caused by the injury in September 1998.”  He also stated the employee had no signs of cubital tunnel impingement or compression when he examined and operated on him, and he did not believe that condition was related to the employee’s injury in September 1998.  Id. at 4-5.

Nerve conduction studies were performed by Kenneth R. Pervier, M.D., on February 22, 2000.  These tests showed "significant left ulnar CMAP slowing of the elbow of a mild to moderate degree."  (Dr. Pervier’s 2/22/00 Report).  On March 13, 2000, Dr. Telford noted the employee realized psychic relief "when the thing he had feared most," a complete controversion of all compensation benefits, had been filed. 

The employer provided the Marble/Zeluff report to Drs. Lanza and McNamara and solicited their comments.  Both Dr. Lanza and Dr. McNamara responded with letters in May 2000 providing summaries of their opinions and reasoning for disputing the EME conclusions. (See Dr. Lanza’s 5/9/00 Report; Dr. McNamara’s 5/8/00 Report).

Dr. McNamara identified four diagnoses which he believed are directly related to the employee's work injury:  (1) lateral epicondylitis (tennis elbow), improved but not resolved as  of February 2000; (2) lateral elbow mechanical clicking and popping; (3) lateral collateral ligament detachment; and (4) cubital tunnel syndrome, confirmed by Dr. Pervier's nerve conduction studies directly related to the multiple surgeries secondary to the initial injury which occurred in September 1998.  (Dr. McNamara’s 5/8/00 Report at 5). 


On October 13, 2000, the employee’s treating psychiatrist, Dr. McCarthy, submitted an affidavit stating, “inasmuch as I saw Mr. Anselmo for treatment purposes, it would be inappropriate for me to address the cause or the relative contribution of any particular injury or event.”  (Dr. McCarthy’s 10/23/00 Affidavit at 2).


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.
Presumption Analysis


AS 23.30.120(a) provides in pertinent part: "In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that (1) the claim comes within the provisions of the chapter . . . ."  The Alaska Supreme Court has held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996), (quoting Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 665 (Alaska 1991)).  The evidence necessary to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  "[I]n claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary in order to make that connection.”  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  The employee need only adduce “some” “minimal” relevant evidence Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987), establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment, Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316, or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability.  Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74.


The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment.  Id. Second, once the preliminary link is established, "it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.”  Id. (quoting Burgess Construction v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981)).  To overcome the presumption of compensability, the employer must present substantial evidence that the injury was not work-related.  Id.; Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, we examine the employer’s evidence in isolation.  Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985). 


In Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991), the Court explained two possible ways to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence which provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the disability; or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.  "Substantial evidence" is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Servs., 577 P.2d 1044 (Alaska 1978).  We defer questions of credibility and the weight to give the employer's evidence until after we have decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee's injury entitles him to compensation benefits.  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).  


The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of his case by a preponderance of the evidence.  Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence, must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  A longstanding principle in Alaska workers' compensation law is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in the employee's favor.  Beauchamp v. Employers Liab. Assurance Corp., 477 P.2d 993 (Alaska 1970).

A.
The Employee’s Need for Medical Care for his Left Elbow Injuries

The employee seeks medical benefits for four diagnoses of injuries to his left elbow that he claims are work-related: 

1. Lateral epicondylitis;

2. Lateral elbow mechanical clicking and popping;

3. Lateral collateral ligament detachment; and

4. Cubital tunnel syndrome.

We find the employee introduced sufficient evidence to raise the presumption of compensability regarding the need for medical treatment for all his left elbow injuries.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 316 (Alaska 1981).  The employee testified he injured his left arm in September 1998 while at work.  Dr. Lanza and Dr. McNamara testified the employee’s injuries were consistent with the employee’s history of traumas to his left arm in September 1998.  Dr. McNamara, the employee’s surgeon, issued a comprehensive report explaining that the employee’s elbow injuries were related to his industrial traumas in September 1998.  (Dr. McNamara’s 5/8/00 Report).  We find this testimony is sufficient evidence to establish a “preliminary link” between the work accident and the employee’s injuries.  Following the Court's rationale in Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, we therefore apply the presumption of compensability from AS 23.30.120(a)(1) to the medical benefits he claims.  


The employee having established a presumption of compensability, the burden shifts to the employer to rebut this presumption with substantial evidence.  Dr. Mason affied that in late October 1998, the employee’s medial epicondylitis had resolved, but he continued to have symptoms of lateral epicondylitis.  (Dr. Mason’s 3/1/00 Affidavit at 2).  He stated that on October 24, 1998 he found no evidence of nerve impingement in the employee’s elbow.  Id.  He stated that after the employee’s initial surgery, the employee “began complaining for the first time of popping in his elbow... I was surprised because during the surgery I had a good opportunity to look into his elbow joint and saw nothing that could explain a popping noise.”  Id. at 3.  He stated that the surgeries he performed on the employee “resolved the lateral epicondylitis condition which Mr. Anselmo originally presented with.”  He stated he did not believe the popping sound in the employee’s elbow was due to any defect in the joint, and said that he found no evidence of osteochondritis dissecans or other significant problems in the capitellum, radial head or other structure in the elbow joint.  Id.  He stated the employee did not have a detached lateral collateral ligament in his elbow when he operated on him and, therefore “that detachment was not caused by the injury in September 1998.”  He also stated the employee had no signs of cubital tunnel impingement or compression when he examined and operated on him, and he did not believe that condition was related to the employee’s injury in September 1998.  Id. at 4-5.


Drs. Marble and Zeluff opined that:

[T]he lateral epicondylitis/tendinitis, which was clearly related to the September 1998 Workers Compensation claim, has resolved.  The first surgical procedure performed February of 1999 was considered claim-related.  Subsequent surgical procedures were performed due to mechanical alterations in the elbow which this panel does not relate directly to injuries sustained on the job.

Drs. Marble and Zeluff’s 2/21/00 Report at 21.


Drs. Marble and Zeluff agreed that the employee had symptoms of ulnar compressive neuropathy (cubital tunnel syndrome).  However, they did not believe this condition was directly related to the employee’s “injuries sustained on the job in September of 1998.”  They noted that the employee’s ulnar neuropathy symptoms developed following the employee’s second elbow surgical procedure, which they did not consider to be claim-related.  Id. at 22.  


All the physicians agree that the employee’s lateral epicondylitis/tendinitis was related to his September 1998 industrial traumas.  All the physicians agree that the February 1999 surgery performed on the employee was related as well.  Accordingly, we find that the employee’s lateral epicondylitis/tendinitis was related to his work exposures, and the February 1999 surgery was compensable.  As to the employee’s other elbow diagnoses and his continuing need for medical care after his first surgery, we find the employer has offered substantial evidence ruling out the employee’s employment as a substantial factor in causing the employee’s injuries, thus rebutting the presumption.  See Safeway v. Mackey, 965 P.2d 22, 27-28 (Alaska 1998); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991). 


The employee must prove his claim for additional medical benefits by a preponderance of the evidence.  Meek, 914 P.2d at 1280.  We find the employee has met his burden of proof.  We heard testimony from the employee regarding industrial traumas and injuries that he sustained to his left elbow.  He testified his elbow problems never fully resolved, and continue to bother him to this day.  He testified he had no injuries to his arm before September 1998, and has had none since.  We find the employee was a credible witness and we accord substantial weight to his testimony.  AS 23.30.122.  


We conclude the employee suffered the following injuries as a direct or indirect result of his industrial exposures in September 1998: lateral epicondylitis, lateral elbow mechanical clicking and popping, lateral collateral ligament detachment and cubital tunnel syndrome.  We rely predominantly on the analysis and discussion presented by Dr. McNamara in his deposition and in his May 8, 2000 report.  We find Dr. McNamara to be a credible witness and accord substantial weight to his testimony.  AS 23.30.122.  Dr. McNamara is board certified in orthopedic surgery with the American Academy of Orthopedic Surgeons.  He has trained in hand and upper extremity while in a fellowship in Texas.  He has an Added Qualification of Hand Surgery Certificate.  Approximately 95% of his surgery and consultation work includes hand, elbow and shoulder.  Moreover, he was the employee’s treating physician and is thoroughly familiar with the employee’s condition and its history.


We find that Dr. McNamara provided a logical explanation of the employee’s condition and its relation to his employment that was supported by his examinations and his review of the employee’s records.  We find there was no credible evidence that the employee had any preexisting injuries to his left arm before September 1998.  Nor was there any credible evidence he had any injuries after September 1998 to his arm.  


1.
The Lateral Epicondylitis/Tendinitis After February 1999


We have already concluded that the employee’s lateral epicondylitis/tendinitis condition was compensable until February 1999.  We now conclude the employee has proven that his lateral epicondylitis condition has not resolved, and that it continues to be compensable.  Dr. McNamara testified that, as of February 2000, the last time he examined the employee, the employee’s lateral epicondylitis had improved, but not resolved.  He testified this condition was caused by the employee’s work traumas in September 1998.  We find that the employee has complained of lateral epicondylitis since his work traumas in September 1998.  We find there is no credible testimony that breaks the chain of causation between the employee’s continued arm problems and his work exposures in September 1998.  We find there is no credible evidence of any intervening or superseding causes.  We find the employee’s lateral epicondylitis was caused by his work for the employer.

2. Lateral Elbow Mechanical Popping and Clicking


We find the popping and clicking in the employee’s elbow is causally related to his employment.
 The medical records, reports and therapists’ notes document the employee’s complaints of “popping and clicking” in his elbow.  We find this problem existed before the employee’s first surgery and persists to this day.  Contrary to Dr. Mason’s March 1, 2000 Affidavit wherein Dr. Mason claimed the employee did not report elbow popping and clicking until March 1999, Dr. Mason’s chart notes reveal the employee complained of clicking and popping well before that surgery.  (See, e.g., Dr. Mason’s 11/24/98 Chart Note).  Additionally, Dr. Blue noted the employee had a “definite audible snap” in his elbow on January 11, 1999.  Dr. McNamara opined this condition was related to the employee’s work accident.  We find the employee’s employment was a substantial factor in causing the popping and clicking in the employee’s arm.


3.
Lateral Collateral Ligament Detachment

Dr. McNamara believed the employee’s lateral collateral ligament detachment was likely caused by his September 1998 work injury.  (Dr. McNamara’s Deposition at 47).  Dr. Mason noted in his operative report that he removed the employee’s lateral epicondyle down to cancellous bone.  Dr. McNamara testified that, in his experience, it is not uncommon for surgeons, particularly surgeons who are not specialists in elbow surgery, to cut away too much of the lateral epicondyle when performing an epicondylectomy – resulting in a lateral collateral ligament detachment.  Regardless of whether this injury was caused “directly” by the employee’s work accident or caused by his subsequent medical care, this injury is compensable.
  We conclude the employee’s employment was a substantial factor in causing his lateral collateral ligament detachment.


4.
Cubital Tunnel Syndrome

The employee was first diagnosed with cubital tunnel syndrome in November 1999.  Dr. McNamara indicated that this condition was “probably secondary to swelling of the elbow.”  (Dr. McNamara’s 11/18/99 Report).  Dr. McNamara testified the employee’s cubital tunnel syndrome was “directly related” to swelling caused by his work injury, splinting, and the multiple surgeries secondary to the initial work injury.  The employee testified he noted elbow swelling following his work injury, and has had chronic and persistent swelling since that date.  Dr. McNamara testified that swelling is not typically as observable in large muscular people such as the employee.  (Dr. McNamara’s Deposition at 60).  We conclude the employee’s work accident was a substantial factor in causing his cubital tunnel syndrome.


Drs. Marble and Zeluff performed an impressive review of the employee’s records.  However, although they concluded the employee’s conditions were not “directly” related to his employment, they offered no substantive explanation or analysis as to how the employee’s elbow conditions arose.  Their opinion essentially was that the employee’s condition should have resolved, and the fact that it did not should not be blamed on the employer.  We find the opinions of Drs. Marble and Zeluff were conclusory in nature, and offered us little assistance in making our determination.  They offered no alternative explanation as to how the employee’s injuries occurred, failed to explain how the employee’s lateral collateral ligament became detached, and did not explain how the employee’s injuries could have possibly occurred other then from his initial work injury or the subsequent medical procedures.  Accordingly, we granted their opinions little weight.

5.
The Employee’s Treatment Was Reasonable and Necessary, and He Has Not Yet Reached Medical Stability

We find the treatment the employee has received for his elbow conditions was reasonable and necessary and was related to his September 1998 work exposures.  We find the employee has not yet reached medical stability.  Following the employee’s last surgery in November 1999, Dr. McNamara predicted the employee would not recover for six months.  (Dr. McNamara’s 11/20/99 Discharge Prescription).  At his last examination in February 2000, Dr. McNamara ordered 8 to 12 weeks of physical therapy for the employee’s recovery.  Dr. McNamara noted, “he certainly is not medically stable at this point.”  (Dr. McNamara’s 2/3/00 Chart Note at 2).  The employer controverted all benefits on March 2, 2000.  This controversion terminated the employee’s prescribed physical therapy.  Because of the employer’s controversion, the employee was unable to obtain necessary treatment that would have allowed him to fully recuperate.  We therefore conclude the employee has not yet reached medical stability.  Weidner & Associates, Inc. v. Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727 (Alaska 1999).


We find the employee needs additional treatment for his elbow conditions.  At the time of the employer’s March 2000 controversion, Dr. McNamara anticipated performing cubital tunnel surgery once the employee recovered from the surgical lateral collateral ligament repair.  We order the employer to provide the employee with all reasonable and necessary medical care that his treating physicians see fit to prescribe.  Hibdon, 989 P.2d 727.  The employer is ordered to pay all unpaid medical benefits the employee has received for his elbow conditions, with statutory interest.  The employer is also order to pay all unpaid transportation costs, with interest.  8 AAC 45.084.

B.
The Employee’s Hypertension and Depression

The employee introduced evidence that his work accident was a substantial factor in causing his hypertension and depression.
  (See Dr. Lanza’s Reports and Hearing Testimony).  The employee’s treating psychiatrist, Dr. McCarthy, declined to offer an opinion regarding the causation of the employee’s psychiatric conditions.  Drs. Marble and Zeluff opined that the employee’s left elbow injury was not a substantial factor causing need for hypertension management.  (Drs. Marble and Zeluff’s 2/21/00 Report at 22).  They stated that the employee “has a significant reactive depression which is partially related to the upper extremity claim/condition.  His depression is currently under good control, and we would consider the reactive depression a temporary condition.”  Id. (underline in original).  They then noted that the employee’s work-related reactive depression had ceased at the time they saw him.  Id.  


The legislature has granted us the authority to order a second independent medical evaluation (“SIME”) to assist us in our decision-making process.  AS 23.30.095(k) provides, in pertinent part:


In the event of a medical dispute regarding determinations of causation, medical stability, ability to enter a reemployment plan, degree of impairment, functional capacity, the amount and efficacy of the continuance of or necessity of treatment, or compensability between the employee's attending physician and the employer's independent medical evaluation, the board may require that a second independent medical evaluation be conducted by a physician or physicians selected by the board from a list established and maintained by the board.


When deciding whether to order a SIME evaluations, we look at the following factors:

1. Is there a medical dispute between the employee’s attending 

physician and the EIME physician;

2. Is the dispute significant; and

3. Would an SIME physician’s opinion assist the Board in resolving the dispute?  


We find a significant medical dispute exists between Dr. Lanza and the EMEs regarding the employee’s psychiatric and hypertension conditions.  AS 23.30.095(k).  We find that a SIME physician’s opinion would assist us in resolving this dispute. Under both AS 23.30.095 and AS 23.30.110(g), we conclude that the employee should be seen by a SIME regarding his hypertension and psychiatric symptoms.


A SIME must be performed by a physician on our list, unless we find the physicians on our list are not impartial.  8 AAC 45.092(f).  We find a medical doctor with a specialty in psychiatry is best suited to perform the SIME and AS 23.30.110(g) evaluation regarding the employee’s psychiatric condition.  Ronald G. Early, M.D., Ph.D., is a physician on our list who specializes in psychiatry.  According to our records, Dr. Early has not treated the employee.  We therefore choose Dr. Early, pending his acceptance, to perform the SIME and .110(g) evaluation regarding the employee’s psychiatric conditions, provided no subsequent conflicts are discovered. 


We find a medical doctor with a specialty in cardiology is best suited to perform the SIME and AS 23.30.110(g) evaluation regarding the employee’s hypertension condition.  Samuel M. Sobol, M.D., is a physician on our list who specializes in cardiology.  According to our records, Dr. Sobol has not treated the employee.  We therefore choose Dr. Sobol, pending his acceptance, to perform the SIME and .110(g) evaluation regarding the employee’s psychiatric conditions, provided no subsequent conflicts are discovered. 

II.
Wage-Loss Benefits the Employee is Entitled

Since the employee’s work-accident caused the employee to miss time from work, we find the employee is entitled to be compensated for all of the time lost from work due to his elbow injuries, from December 14, 1998 through the present.  AS 23.30.185.  The employee is also entitled to receive interest on all unpaid benefits.  8 AAC 45.142.  The employer paid the employee wage loss benefits, in one form or another, from December 14, 1998 through March 4, 2000.  


The only work release the employee received from his physicians after his surgery in February 2000 was for light duty, with no use of his left arm.  Drs. Marble and Zeluff agree the employee is incapable of returning to his prior position.  It is not disputed that the employee cannot return to work at his previous position at this time.  The evidence reveals that the employer does not have “light duty” work available for the employee.  The employee persuasively testified that, when he returned to “light duty” work for the employer, he was performing work that greatly exceeded his light duty requirements.  We find that there is no evidence that light duty exists that the employee is currently capable of doing for the employer.  Accordingly, the employee is entitled to receive ongoing temporary total disability benefits until he is medically stable.  AS 23.30.185.

At the hearing, the parties agreed the employer had paid the following benefits to the employee:

TYPE

DATES

AMOUNT PER WEEK

TTD

9/21/98-11/01/98
$452.97

TTD

12/14/98-5/16/99
$452.97

TPD

5/17/99-5/22/99
$242.10

TTD

5/23/99-6/29/99
$452.97

PPI

6/30/99-8/30/99
$452.97 

.041(k)

8/31/99-11/21/99
$339.35

TTD

11/22/99-12/12/99
$452.97

TTD

12/12/00-3/4/00
$511.67

1. PPI Payments From 6/30/99-8/30/99


We have already concluded that the employee has not yet reached medical stability.  Since the employee was not medically stable, he should not have been assessed a PPI rating or paid PPI benefits.  Accordingly, the PPI payments made by the employer from June 30, 1999 through August 30, 1999 shall be converted to TTD payments.  We find the employer relied on Dr. Blue’s report in determining that the employee was medically stable and that he had incurred a permanent partial impairment.  We find this reliance was made in good faith.  AS 23.30.155(e).  No penalty or interest shall be assessed against the employer for this error.  


2.
.041(K) Payments from 8/31/99-11/21/99

The employer paid the employee .041(k) stipend benefits from August 31, 1999 through November 21, 1999 at a rate lower than the employee’s TTD rate.  AS 23.30.041(k) requires that TTD payments be made to an employee in the reemployment process until the employee is medically stable.  Since we have found the employee is not yet medically stable, we find the employee should have been paid at his TTD rate during this time period.  We find the employer relied on Dr. Blue’s report in determining that the employee was medically stable.  The employee had requested reemployment benefits and was found eligible by the RBA.  We find the employer’s reliance in Dr. Blue’s report was made in good faith.  AS 23.30.155(e).  


We find the employer’s March 4, 2000 controversion was made in good faith.  AS 23.155(e).  We find the employer relied on the opinions of Drs. Marble, Zeluff and Mason in making this controversion.  Since the employee is not yet medically stable, he is still owed TTD benefits from the day of his March controversion through the present time and until he is deemed medically stable, plus interest.  We find no penalties are due on this amount.  AS 23.30.155(e).


3.
The Employee’s Temporary Total Disability Rate

The employer concedes that it incorrectly calculated the employee’s compensation rate.  The parties agree that the employee’s compensation rate should be based on his hourly wage of $18.50 multiplied by the number of hours he was paid during the 13 weeks before his disability, divided by 13.  The records show the employee was paid for 601 hours during that period.  Therefore, the employer agrees that the employee’s compensation rate should be $511.67
.  The employer admits that penalties and interest are appropriate, but withheld paying penalties and interest, claiming that it had overpaid the employee.  We find no overpayment exists.  We find the employee was entitled to a compensation rate of $511.67 (plus the amount due because of the exclusion of health insurance premium payments from his gross weekly wage, as discussed infra) during all periods of temporary total disability.  We find this rate was not paid to the employee within the statutorily mandated period.  AS 23.30.155.  The employer is ordered to pay the employee all TTD amounts that were underpaid, with interest and penalties.

III.
Is The Employee Entitled To A Compensation Rate Adjustment For Health Insurance Premiums?


The employee argues the employer erred in not including health insurance contributions made by the employer on the employee’s behalf in calculating the employee’s gross earnings.  We agree.  8 AAC 45.220(c)(3)(B) provides that gross weekly earnings does not include as periodic payments:

A benefit or payment to the employee that is not fully taxable to the employee during the pay period, except that the amount an employer contributed to provide health or life insurance coverage for the employee or employee’s beneficiaries must be included as a periodic payment.  (Emphasis added).


The employer argues that this regulation violates federal law and conflicts with AS 23.30.395(15), which excludes from the compensation rate calculation “any benefit or payment to the employee that is not fully taxable to the employee during the pay period.”  A thorough legal analysis of the issues raised by the employer is found in an analogous claim, Irvin v. K&L Distributors, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 00-0023 (February 10, 2000).  We adopt the reasoning and analysis of the Irvin panel.  The employer asks us to ignore our regulation, but the Alaska Supreme Court has instructed that, “In general, an administrative agency must comply with its own regulations.”  United States v. RCA Alaska Communications, Inc., 597 P.2d 489, 498 (Alaska 1979).  


The employer does not dispute that it has provided health insurance premium payments to the employee as part of his work contract.  We find the employer contributed $.67 per hour towards the employee’s health insurance premium as part of the contract under which the employee worked for the employer.
  We find the employer’s contributions “provide health and life insurance coverage for the employee.”  We find the payments made by the employer constitute a “contribut[ion] to provide health or life insurance coverage for the employee.”  We conclude therefore that 8 AAC 45.220 (c) (3) (B) applies and the employer erred in not including these contributions when calculating the employee’s gross earnings.  The employer is ordered to recalculate the employee’s compensation rate to reflect the $.67 average hourly cost of the employee’s health insurance premium.  The employer concedes that a finding that the health insurance premiums should be added to the employee’s compensation rate would entitle the employee to penalties and interest.  (Employee’s Closing Brief at 14).  We also find that penalties and statutory interest are due and owing on this amount.  AS 23.30.155.

IV.
Attorney Fees and Costs

We find the employee’s attorney has successfully prosecuted the employee’s claims.  We find the employer has resisted and controverted the employee’s claims.  AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less then 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.

(b) If an employer fails to... pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs of the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee.  The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.


The employee’s attorney submitted affidavits detailing and explaining his fees.  He affied that he spent 81.15 hours from June 23, 2000 through September 26, 2000 and 117.1 hours from September 26, 2000 through November 14, 2000 working on this claim.  (Steven Constantino’s 9/27/00 and 11/14/00 Affidavits).  The total amount of hours was 198.25.  We find the employee has prevailed on the most substantial aspects of his claim: medical benefits for his elbow conditions, some penalties and interest and temporary total disability benefits.  


The employee’s counsel was instrumental in obtaining the benefits sought by the employee.  This matter was very complex – both medically and legally -- and tenaciously fought by the employer. The employer’s counsel, Timothy McKeever, was a strong advocate for the employer, and is a well experienced-attorney.  The employee’s counsel, Steven Constantino, was also a strong and effective advocate for his client.  His briefs and his presentation of the employee’s claim were detailed, thorough and of great assistance to the board.   


The Alaska Supreme Court has instructed us that an attorney’s fee award is not necessarily limited to the hourly rate multiplied by the number of hours expended.  Instead, the board may consider the contingent nature of the fee and the likelihood of success on the merits.  Bailey v. Litwin Corp., 780 P.2d 1007 (Alaska 1989).  We find that the employee’s attorney spent 198.25 hours on the employee’s claim.  We find the hours spent to be reasonable.  We find the employee prevailed on approximately 80% of his substantive claim.  We will award the employee’s attorney an hourly fee of $215.  We find this amount is reasonable.  Accordingly, the employer is ordered to pay the employee’s attorney $34,099 ((198.25 x $215) x 80%).


The employee has also incurred paralegal costs.  The employee’ attorney submitted an affidavit in support of paralegal costs.  The total amount of hours submitted was 13 hours.  We find this number of hours was reasonable.  We find that $85 per hour is a reasonable fee for the employee’s paralegal.  We will award the employee his paralegal costs in the amount of $1,105.


The employee also seeks to recoup legal costs spent in the litigation of this claim.  The employee’s attorney submitted two affidavits supporting his claim for legal costs.  The September 26, 2000 affidavit seeks costs amounting to $159.99 (Steven Constantino’s 9/26/00 Affidavit).  The November 14, 2000 affidavit seeks costs in the amount of $3,049.53 (Steven Constantino’s 11/14/00 Affidavit).  The total amount of legal costs sought by the employee is $3,209.52.  We find that $3,209.52 in legal costs was reasonable and necessary for the litigation of the employee’s claim.  We will award $3,209.52 in legal costs to the employee.

V. Shall we Refer this Matter for Criminal Prosecution pursuant to AS 23.30.250(a)?


The employee asserts that the employer’s attorney and Ms. Harvey’s statements were in violation of AS 23.30.250(a), which states:

A person who (1) knowingly makes a false or misleading statement, representation, or submission related to a benefit under this chapter; (2) knowingly assists, abets, solicits, or conspires in making a false or misleading submission affecting the payment, coverage, or other benefit under this chapter; (3) knowingly misclassifies employees or engages in deceptive leasing practices for the purpose of evading full payment of workers’ compensation insurance premiums; or (4) employs or contracts with a person or firm to coerce or encourage an individual to file a fraudulent compensation claim is civilly liable to a person adversely affected by the conduct, is guilty of theft by deception as defined in AS 11.46.180, and may be punished as provided by AS 11.46.120 – 11.46.150.  


We find there was no evidence that the employer or its attorney engaged in any knowingly wrongful conduct in violation of AS 23.30.250(a).  Accordingly, we make no findings of fact on this topic.

ORDER

1. The employee’s September 1998 industrial traumas were a substantial factor in causing the employee’s elbow conditions outlined above.

2. The employee has not yet reached medical stability concerning his elbow injuries.

3. The employer shall pay the employee all unpaid temporary total disability benefits, with interest and penalties, as described above.  The PPI and .041(k) payments were made in error and payments are to be made as described above.

4. The employer is ordered to pay all unpaid medical costs regarding the employee’s elbow conditions, plus interest, as described above.

5. The employee continues to remain entitled to medical benefits for his elbow conditions, as described above.

6. The employee’s claim for a compensation rate adjustment to include the employer’s health insurance payments is granted.  The employer is ordered to recalculate the employee’s compensation rate to include all payments the employer made for the employee’s health and welfare during the 13-week period previously selected by the employee.  The employer is ordered to pay a 25% penalty on this amount pursuant to AS 23.30.155(e).  The employer is ordered to pay interest from the dates payments were due.

7. The employee’s petition to refer this matter to the Division of Insurance is denied and dismissed.

8. The employee’s petition to refer this matter for criminal prosecution is denied and dismissed.

9. The employee’s attorney is awarded attorney’s fees, paralegal costs and legal costs as described above.

10. A SIME shall be conducted by Dr. Early regarding the employee’s psychiatric condition, and by Dr. Sobol regarding the employee’s hypertension condition.  The issues before the SIMEs are:  causation and work-relatedness, reasonableness and necessity of the care received, the necessity of future treatment and medical stability.

11. The parties shall proceed under 8 AAC 45.092(h)as follows:



A.
All filings regarding the SIME shall be directed to Workers' Compensation Officer Cathy Gaal's attention.  Each party may submit up to five questions within 20 days from the date of this decision.  These questions may be used in the letter to the SIME physician.  The questions should relate to the issues currently in dispute under AS 23.30.095(k), listed in number 1 above.


If subsequent medical disputes arise prior to our contact with the SIME physician, the parties may request we address the additional issues.  However, the parties must agree on these additional issues.  The parties must list the additional medical dispute and specify the supporting medical opinion (including report date, page, and author).  The parties must file the supporting medical reports, regardless of previous reports in the record.  We will then consider whether to include these issues. 



B.
The employer shall prepare two copies of all medical records in its possession, put the copies in chronological order by date of treatment, with the oldest records on top, number the pages consecutively, put the copies in two binders, and serve the binders upon the employee with an affidavit verifying the binders contain copies of all the medical records in the employer's possession regarding the employee.  This must be done within 20 days from the date of this decision.  




C.
The employee shall review the binders.  If the binders are complete, the employee shall file the binders with us within 30 days from the date of this decision together with an affidavit stating the binders contain copies of all the medical records in the employee's possession.  If the binders are incomplete, the employee shall prepare three copies of the medical records, missing from the first set of binders.  The employee shall place each set of copies in a separate binder as described above.  The employee shall file two of the supplemental binders with us, the two sets of binders prepared by the employer, and an affidavit verifying the completeness of the medical records.  The employee shall serve the third supplemental binder upon the employer, together with an affidavit stating it is identical to the binders filed with us.  The employee shall serve the employer and file the binders within 30 days from the date of this decision.



D.
If either party receives additional medical records or doctors' depositions after the binders have been prepared and filed with us, the party shall prepare three supplemental binders as described above with copies of the additional records and depositions.  The party must file two of the supplemental binders with us within seven days after receiving the records or depositions.  The party must serve one supplemental binder on the opposing party, together with an affidavit stating it is identical to the binders filed with us, within seven days after receipt. 



E.
The parties shall specifically identify the film studies which have been done, and which films the employee will hand carry to the SIME.  The employee shall prepare the list, and serve it on the employer within 30 days from the date of this decision.  The employer shall review the list for completeness.  The employer shall file the list with us within 40 days from the date of this decision.

F.
Other than the film studies which the employee hand carries to the SIME and the employee’s conversation with the SIME physician or the physician’s office about the examination, neither party shall contact the SIME physician, the physician’s office, or give the SIME physician anything else, until the SIME physician has submitted the SIME report to us. 



G.
If the employee finds it necessary to cancel or change the SIME appointment date or time, the employee shall immediately contact Workers' Compensation Officer Cathy Gaal and the physician’s office.


Dated at Anchorage, Alaska this     day of December, 2000.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD







______________________________                                






William P. Wielechowski,

                               



Designated Chairman







______________________________                                






John A. Abshire, Member







______________________________                                






S.T. Hagedorn, Member


If compensation is payable under the terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25% will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

APPEAL PROCEDURES


This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Proceedings to appeal must be instituted in Superior Court within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board, as provided in the Rules of Appellate Procedure of the State of Alaska.

RECONSIDERATION

A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION


Within one year after the rejection of a claim or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200 or 23.30.215 a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050. 

CERTIFICATION


I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of EMILE D. ANSELMO employee / applicant; v. R.J.H. INC., employer; ALASKA NATIONAL INS. CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 199819197; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, this      day of December, 2000.

                             
_________________________________

                           




Shirley A. DeBose, Clerk

�








� This letter is dated May 12, 1999, but was apparently written “following [his] 5/13/99 re-evaluation”


� An employer is liable for all direct and indirect consequences of the work injury, including results from medical malpractice in the course of treating a work injury.  Second Injury Fund v. Arctic Bowl, 928 P.2d 590,593 (Alaska 1996); Ribar v. H&S Earthmovers, 618 P.2d 582,584 (Alaska 1980).


� We note that the board has previously found that depression related to a work injury is compensable.  Douglas v. Hills’ Pet Nutrition, AWCB Decision No. 99-0143 (July 2,1999).


� Deal v. Municipality of Anchorage (ATU), AWCB Interlocutory Decision No. 97-0165 at 3 (July 23, 1997).  See also, Schmidt v. Beeson Plumbing and Heating, AWCB Decision No. 91-0128 (May 2, 1991).


� The parties agree this is the proper TTD rate, without any adjustment for health insurance premium payments made by the employer.  This issue is discussed, infra.


� This figure is based on the amount provided to us by the employee in his Closing Brief at 14.  The employer has not suggested a contrary amount.
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